
 

 

 
January 31, 2013 

 
Sent via Email and Certified Mail Return Receipt Requested 

 
Tom Tidwell, Chief  
USDA Forest Service  
1400 Independence Avenue SW 
Washington D.C. 20250-0003 
ttidwell@fs.fed.us 
 
Dave Whittekiend, Forest Supervisor 
Mark Twain National Forest 
401 Fairgrounds Road 
Rolla, MO 65401 
dwhittekiend@fs.fed.us 
 

Ken Salazar, Secretary 
U.S. Department of the Interior 
1849 C Street NW 
Washington, DC 20240 
exsec@ios.doi.gov 
 
Dan Ashe, Director 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
1849 C Street NW 
Washington, DC 20240 
Dan_Ashe@fws.gov 

 
 
Re: Notice of Violations of the Endangered Species Act and its Regulations for Failure 

to Reinitiate Consultation on the Forest Plan for the Mark Twain National Forest 
 
 On behalf of the Center for Biological Diversity and Missouri Coalition for the 
Environment, we hereby provide notice, pursuant to Section 11(g) of the Endangered Species 
Act (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), that the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”) and the 
USDA Forest Service (“Forest Service”) are in violation of Section 7 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 
1536, and the ESA’s consultation regulations, 50 C.F.R. Part 402, as well as Section 9 of the 
ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1538.1   
 
 Specifically, the Center intends to file a lawsuit challenging the Forest Service’s: (1) 
failure to insure that the Forest Plan for the Mark Twain National Forest, including projects and 
activities that are authorized pursuant to and allowed by this Plan, are not likely to jeopardize the 
continued existence of listed species, including the Ozark hellbender, snuffbox mussel, and 
spectaclecase, or result in the destruction or adverse modification of the critical habitat of the 
Hine’s emerald dragonfly and Tumbling Creek cavesnail; (2) failure to timely reinitiate and 
complete consultation with the FWS regarding the impacts of this Forest Plan on these listed 
species and designated critical habitat; (3) continued authorization and approval of activities in 
the Forest that may irreversibly and irretrievably commit resources and may foreclose the 
formulation or implementation of reasonable and prudent alternatives, prior to completing the 
reinitiation of consultation regarding the impacts of the Forest Plan on these listed species and 
designated critical habitat; and (4) continued authorization and approval of activities in the 

                                                 
 1 The agencies’ violations of the ESA are also arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of 
discretion, and not in accordance with law, in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 
U.S.C. § 706(2).  
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Forest that are taking these listed species without obtaining an incidental take statement.  In 
addition, the Center intends to file a lawsuit challenging the FWS’s failure to timely reinitiate 
and complete consultation concerning the Forest Service’s ongoing implementation of the Forest 
Plan for the Mark Twain National Forest. 
 

The Center for Biological Diversity (the “Center”) is a national, nonprofit conservation 
organization with more than 450,000 members and online activists dedicated to the protection of 
endangered species and wild places.  The Center and its members are concerned with the 
conservation of imperiled species and the effective implementation of the ESA. 

 
The Missouri Coalition for the Environment is a grassroots environmental advocacy 

organization with offices in St. Louis County. Since its founding in 1969, the Coalition has 
advocated for the protection of public lands, forests, rivers, lakes, wetlands, and floodplains 
throughout the state of Missouri. The Coalition has a strong interest in ensuring that Missouri’s 
forests and waters are healthy and supportive of native ecosystems.  

 
STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

 
 When a species has been listed or critical habitat designated under the ESA, all federal 
agencies – including the Forest Service – must ensure through consultation with the FWS that 
their programs and activities are in compliance with the ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).  Through 
consultation under Section 7 of the ESA, federal agencies work with FWS to determine whether 
their actions will jeopardize listed species’ survival or adversely modify designated critical 
habitat, and if so, to identify ways to modify the action to avoid that result.  50 C.F.R. § 402.14.  
An agency is required to review its actions “at the earliest possible time” to determine whether 
the action may affected listed species or critical habitat.  50 C.F.R. § 402.14(a).   
 
 The scope of agency actions subject to consultation are broadly defined to encompass “all 
activities or programs of any kind authorized, funded, or carried out, in whole or in part, by 
Federal agencies.” 50 C.F.R. § 402.02 (definition of “action”).  Forest plans are ongoing agency 
actions subject to Section 7 of the ESA.  Pacific Rivers Council v. Thomas, 30 F.3d 1050, 1053-
54 (9th Cir. 1994). 
 
 For each federal action, the Forest Service must ask the FWS whether any listed or 
proposed species may be present in the area of the agency action.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(c)(1); 50 
C.F.R. § 402.12.  If listed or proposed species may be present, the Forest Service must prepare a 
“biological assessment” to determine whether the listed species may be affected by the proposed 
action.  Id.  The biological assessment must generally be completed within 180 days.  16 U.S.C. 
§ 1536(c)(1); 50 C.F.R. § 402.12(i). 
 
 If an agency determines that its action “may affect” but is “not likely to adversely affect” 
a listed species or its critical habitat, the regulations permit “informal consultation,” during 
which FWS must concur in writing with the agency’s determination.  50 C.F.R. § 402.14(a)-(b). 
If the agency determines that its action is “likely to adversely affect” a listed species or critical 
habitat, or if FWS does not concur with the agency’s “not likely to adversely affect” 
determination, the agency must engage in “formal consultation,” as outlined in 50 C.F.R. § 
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402.14 (“General Formal Consultation”).  50 C.F.R. §§ 402.02, 402.14(a).  An agency is relieved 
of the obligation to consult on its actions only where the action will have “no effect” on listed 
species or designated critical habitat.  Effects determinations are based on the direct, indirect, 
and cumulative effects of the action when added to the environmental baseline and other 
interrelated and interdependent actions.  50 C.F.R. § 402.02 (definition of “effects of the 
action”).   
 
 To complete formal consultation, the FWS must provide the Forest Service with a 
“biological opinion” explaining how the proposed action will affect the listed species or habitat. 
16 U.S.C. § 1536(b); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14.  Consultation must generally be completed within 90 
days from the date on which consultation is initiated. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(1)(A); 50 C.F.R. § 
402.14(e). 
 
 If the FWS concludes that the proposed action “will jeopardize the continued existence” 
of a listed species, the biological opinion must outline “reasonable and prudent alternatives.” 16 
U.S.C. § 1536(b)(3)(A).  If the biological opinion concludes that the action is not likely to 
jeopardize the continued existence of a listed species, and will not result in the destruction or 
adverse modification of critical habitat, the FWS must provide an “incidental take statement,” 
specifying the amount or extent of such incidental taking on the listed species, any “reasonable 
and prudent measures” that the FWS considers necessary or appropriate to minimize such 
impact, and setting forth the “terms and conditions” that must be complied with by the Forest 
Service to implement those measures. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(4); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(i).  Taking of 
listed species without the coverage of an incidental take statement is a violation of Section 9 of 
the ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 1538. 
 
 Agencies must reinitiate consultation on agency actions over which the federal agency 
retains, or is authorized to exercise, discretionary involvement or control if: 
 

(a) If the amount or extent of taking specified in the incidental take statement is 
exceeded; 
 

(b) If new information reveals effects of the action that may affect listed species 
or critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered; 
 

(c) If the identified action is subsequently modified in a manner that causes an 
effect to the listed species or critical habitat that was not considered in the 
biological opinion; or 
 

(d) If a new species is listed or critical habitat designated that may be affected by 
the identified action. 

 
50 C.F.R. § 402.16. 
 
 Until completion of consultation, the Forest Service is prohibited from making any 
irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources with respect to the agency action which 
may foreclose the formulation or implementation of any reasonable and prudent alternative 
measures.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(d); see Pacific Rivers Council, 30 F.3d at 1057 (recognizing that 
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“timber sales constitute per se irreversible and irretrievable commitments of resources under § 
7(d) and thus could not go forward during the consultation period”). 
 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 
 The Mark Twain National Forest has 1,495,747 acres of land primarily in southern 
Missouri.  In 2005, the Forest Service completed a Forest Plan for the Mark Twain National 
Forest.  2005 Forest Plan, available at 
http://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/fsm8_045308.pdf (last visited Nov. 30, 
2012).  The Forest Plan sets guidelines for logging, grazing, road-building, and recreational 
activities on the Forest.  As part of its analysis of the environmental impacts of the Forest Plan, 
the Forest Service prepared a Biological Assessment to analyze impacts on 11 listed species on 
the Forest.  2005 Biological Assessment (“BA”), available at 
http://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/fsm8_045284.pdf (last visited Nov. 30, 
2012).  The agency also prepared an environmental impact statement.  Final Environmental 
Impact Statement (“EIS”) for the 2005 Forest Plan, available at 
http://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/fsm8_045273.pdf (last visited Nov. 30, 
2012).  At that time, there was no designated critical habitat on the Mark Twain National Forest 
for any listed species.  BA at 7.   
 
 As a result of that analysis, the Forest Service also requested and received a concurrence 
from the FWS on its determinations of “No Effect and May Affect – Not Likely to Adversely 
Affect” for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly, Tumbling Creek cavesnail, and seven other species not 
at issue in this notice.  In September 2005, the FWS issued a non-jeopardy programmatic 
biological opinion for Indiana bat and Mead’s milkweed.  2005 Programmatic Biological 
Opinion, available at http://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/fsm8_045276.pdf 
(last visited Nov. 30, 2012).  In 2009, the FWS issued an amended programmatic biological 
opinion on the running buffalo clover and Indiana bat.   
 
New Listings, Critical Habitat Designations Since 2005 Programmatic Biological Opinion 
 
 Since the FWS prepared the 2005 Programmatic Biological Opinion, there have been 
new listings of species present on (Ozark hellbender, spectaclecase) or likely near (snuffbox) the 
Mark Twain National Forest.  There have also been new critical habitat designations that occur 
on (Hine’s emerald dragonfly) or are impacted by activities on (Tumbling Creek cavesnail) the 
Forest.  Each of these is discussed below. 
 
Ozark Hellbender 
 
 Thirty-three percent of known locations of the Ozark hellbender occur on the Mark 
Twain National Forest.  EIS at 157.  The FWS listed the Ozark hellbender as endangered in 
October of 2011.  76 Fed. Reg. 61956 (Oct. 6, 2011).  Population levels for Ozark hellbenders 
are declining, and numerous factors are implicated in its decline.  EIS at 73.   
 
 To begin, any activity which causes soil to move into streams or which removes riparian 
tree cover has potential to affect hellbenders by increasing sedimentation and altering flow and 
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temperature regimes, which can affect oxygen levels in the stream and respiration of individuals.  
EIS at 137.  In addition, sedimentation decreases the available interstitial spaces among the rock 
substrates for cover and forage and reduces prey abundance.  Id.  On the Mark Twain National 
Forest, activities that have this potential include timber harvest, road construction/reconstruction, 
grazing, and prescribed burning.  EIS at 135, 137.  Use of the systems of roads and trails on the 
Forest also causes erosion and contributes to sedimentation of waterways.  EIS at 255, 262.  
Grazing also has potential to add excess nutrients to streams, which could further affect oxygen 
availability.  EIS at 137. 
 
 Recreational activities also can harm hellbenders through degradation of water quality 
and human disturbance.  76 Fed. Reg. at 61967.  All of the rivers on the Forest in which 
hellbenders are found are popular recreation rivers, primarily for canoeing, but also for fishing 
and boating.  EIS at 161.  Horseback riding in riparian areas may harm hellbenders through 
hormones in body wastes, sedimentation of waterways, and excess nutrients in streams, which 
affects oxygen availability.  Id.  Uncontrolled off-road vehicle use can also cause localized heavy 
inputs of sediment.  EIS at 180.  In addition, all streams on the Forest with known hellbender 
populations also contain non-native trout species, which are stocked to provide recreational 
fishing opportunities.  EIS at 138; Forest Plan at 1-4.  These nonnative fish compete with 
hellbenders for prey and prey upon young hellbenders.  EIS at 137; 76 Fed. Reg. at 61971.   
  
Spectaclecase and Snuffbox 
 
 The spectaclecase is a mussel that has experienced rapid decline throughout most of its 
former range.  EIS at 155.  Populations on the Mark Twain National Forest have been reduced to 
a few disjunct sites.  Id.  The FWS listed the spectaclecase mussel as endangered in March of 
2012.  77 Fed. Reg. 14914 (March 13, 2012).   
 
 The snuffbox is a mussel that has experienced drastic reduction in range with extant 
populations small and isolated from each other.  EIS at 155.  It is not found on the Forest but was 
observed in 2002 on the Black River in Missouri, which flows through the Mark Twain National 
Forest.  77 Fed. Reg. 8632, 8640 (Feb. 14, 2012).  The FWS listed the snuffbox mussel in 
February of 2012.  77 Fed. Reg. 8632 (Feb. 14, 2012).   
 
 Activities on the Mark Twain National Forest that have potential to add to sediment loads 
to streams may harm both of these mussels, including timber harvest, road construction, and 
grazing.  EIS at 180; see also 77 Fed. Reg. at 14941 (explaining that sedimentation is a primary 
threat to the spectaclecase); 77 Fed. Reg. at 8660 (same for snuffbox).  Uncontrolled off-road 
vehicle use can also cause localized heavy inputs of sediment.  EIS at 180.  Grazing, if allowed 
in riparian areas and if livestock are allowed in streams, can also contribute to excess nutrients in 
streams, which could further affect oxygen availability.  Id.  Another concern is any water 
activity, such as boating, that could spread invasive species like the zebra mussel, which 
threatens both mussels.  77 Fed. Reg. at 14945; 77 Fed. Reg. at 8632. 
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Hine’s Emerald Dragonfly 
 
 Nine known locations of the Hine’s emerald dragonfly occur on the Mark Twain National 
Forest, and other sites are possible.  BA at 5.  All of the nine known sites are open fens with 
some standing or sheet flow water and crayfish burrows.  BA at 61.  The Hine’s emerald 
dragonfly has been listed since 1995, 60 Fed. Reg. 5267 (Jan. 26, 1995), with designated critical 
habitat since 2007.  72 Fed. Reg. 51102 (Sept. 5, 2007).  FWS revised the critical habitat 
designation for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly in April of 2010 to include designated critical 
habitat on the Mark Twain National Forest.  75 Fed. Reg. 21394 (April 23, 2010).   
 
 Activities on the Forest that threaten the dragonfly include surface and groundwater 
pollution, illegal ATV use, prescribed burns, grazing, and use of pesticides.  BA at 70-74; EIS at 
138, 167.  Activities that could facilitate encroachment of invasive species are also harmful, 
including nutrient release, road salt, and human activities that facilitate seed dispersal (ATV and 
equestrian use).  75 Fed. Reg. at 21418.  Other activities of concern include timber harvest and 
road construction, as well as ATV and equestrian use, which may harm critical habitat through 
sedimentation or by altering stream/fen morphology.  Id.   
 
Tumbling Creek Cavesnail 
 
 The Tumbling Creek Cavesnail is a small, blind, aquatic snail found in only one cave, on 
private ownership, in Taney County, Missouri.  BA at 75.  The Tumbling Creek cavesnail has 
been listed since 2002.  67 Fed. Reg. 52879 (Aug. 14, 2002).  The FWS designated critical 
habitat for the Tumbling Creek cavesnail in June of 2011. 76 Fed. Reg. 37663 (June 28, 2011).  
While designated critical habitat for the cavesnail does not occur on the Forest, activities within 
the cave recharge area – approximately 25 percent of which is included within the Forest – can 
harm the designated critical habitat.  76 Fed. Reg. 37663, 37671 (June 28, 2011); BA at 5. 
 
 The primary cause of cavesnail’s decline is believed to be decreased water quality in the 
cave stream.  BA at 75.  Several management activities on the Forest have the potential for soil 
movement off-site, which degrades water quality. These include timber harvest, road 
construction or maintenance, prescribed burning and fireline construction, and grazing practices.  
Id. at 83; see also 76 Fed. Reg. at 37671 (explaining that activities within the cave recharge area 
that cause sedimentation may harm the cavesnail’s critical habitat).  Recreational activities and 
use of the roads and trail system also contributes sediment.  EIS at 255, 262.  Any activities in 
the recharge area that could introduce nonnative species or pollutants to the cave stream are also 
a concern.  76 Fed. Reg. at 37671. 
 
Ongoing and Approved Projects Affecting Listed Species, Critical Habitat on the Forest 
 
 Despite the addition of three new listed species and the designation of critical habitat for 
two other listed species since the 2005 Programmatic Biological Opinion, the Forest Service 
continues to approve and allow projects and ongoing activities on the Mark Twain National 
Forest that may affect these listed species and critical habitat without further programmatic 
analysis.   
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 All of the newly listed species and designated critical habitats are affected by water 
quality, including sedimentation and nutrient loads.  As such, any activities that impact water 
quality may in turn impact these species and habitats.  Ongoing activities that deposit sediment in 
waterways include:  timber harvest, road construction/reconstruction, grazing, use of the road 
and trail system, prescribing burning, recreational activities (such as ATV and equestrian use).  
EIS at 135, 137, 167, 180; BA at 70-75, 83.  Activities that contribute excess nutrients to 
waterways include grazing and horseback riding in the riparian zone.  EIS at 180.  These 
potentially harmful ongoing activities are authorized by the Forest Plan, which sets guidelines for 
logging, grazing, recreation, road-building and other activities within the Forest.  Yet the impacts 
of these activities on the newly listed species and habitats have not been analyzed at the 
programmatic level.  In fact, most of these ongoing activities have not been subject to any 
consultation to analyze impacts on the newly listed species and critical habitats. 
  
 In addition to these ongoing activities, the Forest Service is also approving specific 
projects affecting these newly listed species and designated critical habitats.  The Forest Service 
is consulting on these species and habitats on individual projects, and these consultations show 
that the Forest Service continues to approve projects affecting these listed species and designated 
critical habitats, despite the fact that the Forest Service has not addressed them in the 
Programmatic Biological Opinion for the Forest Plan.  Project specific analysis cannot substitute 
for the comprehensive analysis of management activities that would occur during programmatic 
consultation.  See Pacific Rivers Council, 30 F.3d at 1056 (enjoining projects that the Forest 
Service determined “may affect” a newly listed species because the agency had not completed 
consultation at the programmatic level).  A sampling of projects on the Forest is discussed 
below. 
 
Integrated Nonnative Plant Control Project 
 
 The Integrated Nonnative Plant Control Project treats nonnative invasive plant 
infestations across the Forest with methods including use of herbicides and prescribed burns.  
The project affects the approximately 32,428 acres of the Forest known to be infested.  The 
Forest Service determined in a biological evaluation dated October 27, 2011, that the project may 
affect, but is not likely to adversely affect, the Ozark hellbender, spectaclecase, snuffbox, 
Tumbling Creek cavesnail, and Hine’s emerald dragonfly and its critical habitat.  Impacts from 
the Project that may affect these species or designated critical habitat include:  disturbance as 
work is conducted in habitats, pesticide impacts, and sedimentation.  The Forest Service 
approved the project on February 14, 2012.  
 
Watercress and Lower Current River Recreation Areas Improvement Project 
 
 The Watercress and Lower Current River Recreation Areas Improvement Project 
includes facility construction and demolition, trail realignments, and development of parking 
areas along the Current River.  Ozark hellbenders have been captured 2-3 miles downstream 
from the project areas.  Because the project would temporarily contribute some sediment to the 
river, the Forest Service determined that the project may affect, but is not likely to adversely 
affect, the Ozark hellbender.  In a letter dated May 28, 2010, the FWS concurred in this 
determination. 
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Hurricane Creek Low Water Crossing Project 
 
 The Hurricane Creek Low Water Crossing Project will destroy and replace the low water 
crossing at Hurricane Creek.  The Hurricane Creek flows into the Eleven Point River, where 
Ozark hellbenders are known to occur.  The Forest Service determined that the project may 
affect, but is unlikely to adversely affect, the Ozark hellbender, with the primary concern being 
sediment generated during construction activities.  In a letter dated February 11, 2011, the FWS 
concurred in this determination. 
 
Whitten Access Improvement Project 
 
 The Whitten Access Project improves and modifies the Whitten Access to the Eleven 
Point River.  The Forest Service estimated that five cubic yards of sediment would be discharged 
into the river and determined that the project may affect, but is unlikely to adversely affect, the 
Ozark hellbender.  In a letter dated January 12, 2012, the FWS concurred in this determination.  
On March 20, 2012, the Forest Service approved the project. 
 
North Fork Day Use Area - Boat Launch Removal 
 
 The North Fork Day Use Area – Boat Launch Removal project removes an abandoned 
boat launch that was uncovered during a flood.  Habitat for the Ozark hellbender exists in the 
North Fork River about 0.65 miles downstream from the site.  Because of concern that sediment 
would enter the North Fork River during construction activities, the Forest Service concluded 
that the project may affect, but is unlikely to adversely affect, the Ozark hellbender.  On 
September 10, 2012, the FWS concurrence in the determination. 
 
Teasley Hollow 
 
 This project involves vegetation management and restoration over 6684 acres.  The 
biological assessment for the project explains that there are numerous sightings of the 
spectaclecase in the Big Piney River, which forms the western boundary of the Teasley Hollow 
project area.  The Forest Service finds that activities like commercial thinning, road construction, 
clearcutting and other vegetation management may have a temporary negative impact on water 
quality.  It concluded that the project may affect, but is unlikely to adversely affect, the 
spectaclecase.  On September 21, 2012, the FWS concurred. 
 
Sinking Creek Low Water Crossing 
 
 This project removes and replaces a bridge over Sinking Creek, which flows into Ozark 
hellbender habitat in the Current River (19 miles downstream).  The possibility of sediment 
deposited into the river during construction activities led the Forest Service to conclude that the 
project may affect, but is unlikely to adversely affect, the Ozark hellbender.  The FWS concurred 
on May 3, 2012. 
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ESA VIOLATIONS 
 
 Multiple events triggering the need to reinitiate consultation have occurred since the FWS 
issued its 2005 Programmatic Biological Opinion on the Forest Plan for the Mark Twain 
National Forest.  These include the listing of the Ozark hellbender, snuffbox, and spectaclecase, 
as well as the designation of critical habitat for the Hine’s emerald dragonfly and Tumbling 
Creek cavesnail.  50 C.F.R. § 402.16(d).  Yet the Forest Service and the FWS have failed to 
timely reinitiate and complete reinitiated consultation regarding the continued implementation 
and impacts of this Forest Plan on these listed species and designated critical habitat, in violation 
of the ESA. 16 U.S.C. §§ 1536(a)(2), 1536(b)(1)(A), 1536(c)(1); 50 C.F.R. §§ 402.12, 402.14, 
402.16.  
 
 By allowing, authorizing, and approving projects and activities to proceed on the Mark 
Twain National Forest that may affect listed species or their critical habitat, prior to the 
reinitiation and completion of consultation with FWS, the Forest Service is failing to ensure 
against jeopardy of listed species and destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat, in 
violation of Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).  For this same reason, the 
Forest Service is also violating Section 7(d) of the ESA. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(d).  In addition, the 
Forest Service has no incidental take statement that covers ongoing activities on the Forest, 
which are taking these newly listed species, in violation of Section 9 of the ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 
1538. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
 For the above stated reasons, the Forest Service and the FWS have violated and remain in 
ongoing violation of Section 7 and Section 9 of the ESA.  If these violations of law are not cured 
within sixty days, the Center for Biological Diversity and Missouri Coalition for the 
Environment intend to file suit for declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as attorney fees and 
costs.  16 U.S.C. § 1540(g).  If you believe that any of the foregoing is inaccurate or otherwise 
would like to discuss this notice letter, please contact us. 

 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 

___________________________ 
Collette L. Adkins Giese 
Herpetofauna Staff Attorney 
Center for Biological Diversity 
 
Bruce Morrison 
General Counsel 
Great Rivers Environmental Law Center 
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cc:  
 
Theresa Davidson 
Forest Wildlife Program Manager 
Mark Twain National Forest 
401 Fairgrounds Road 
Rolla, MO 65401 
tmdavidson@fs.fed.us 
 


